FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 3/3/2025 4:26 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/4/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 39989-3-III

Case #: 1039247

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# JOUMANA ALHAYEK and NICHOLAS PHILLIPS, *Petitioners*,

VS.

KATHRYN MILES, M.D., and NORTHWEST OB-GYN, P.S., *Respondents*.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorneys for Petitioners

CHRISTOPHER M. HOGUE WSBA #48041 Hogue Law Firm 905 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 402 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 934-1998 J. GREGORY CASEY WSBA #2130 J. Gregory Casey, PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 1030 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 252-9700

#

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners Joumana Alhayek and Nicholas Phillips (hereinafter identified collectively through "Mrs. Alhayek") ask this Court to accept review of the Division III Court of Appeals' decision designated in Part B herein.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Mrs. Alhayek asks this Court to review the Division III Court of Appeals' published opinion, *Alhayek, et ano v. Miles, et ano*, No. 39989-3-III, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_, 562 P.3d 1270 (Jan. 30, 2025), which rules that an improper "us-versus-them" argument against a person of racial or ethnic minority is permissible or excused when the person of racial or ethnic minority introduces evidence of their limited language proficiency or cultural background at trial to prove an element of their case. A copy of the appellate court's published opinion is included in Appendix A herein.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the appellate court apply the correct legal standard when it made new law establishing that the meaning of "could" under the GR 37 inquiry of "whether an objective observer...could view race or [ethnicity] as a factor in the verdict" means a "reasonable possibility"?

2. Are improper "us-versus-them" arguments by a defendant permissible or excused in a case where the racial or ethnic minority plaintiff introduces evidence of their limited language proficiency or cultural background at trial to prove an element of their case?

3. Do race or ethnicity-neutral alternative explanations excuse the effect of language, coded or otherwise, that appeals to racial or ethnic bias?

4. Does a defendant's framing of a case in their opening statement with improper "us-versus-them" arguments set a structure where a defendant's later comments, even if claimed to be race or ethnicity neutral, could be viewed as coded,

2

dog-whistling back to the improper "us-versus-them" arguments in the opening statement.

5. Does this Court's decision in *Henderson* also apply to ethnic bias?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### 1. Case Background.

Mrs. Alhayek sued Dr. Miles and Northwest OB-GYN for medical negligence, corporate negligence, and failure to secure informed consent that arose from the care, labor, and delivery of her second child in a vaginal birth after caesarean procedure (a "VBAC").

Mrs. Alhayek is Palestinian and was born and raised in a town called Bayt Sahur, which is next to Bethlehem and not far from Jerusalem. She moved to the United States in 2003 from Palestine to be safe and escape the war zone. When she arrived in the United States, Mrs. Alhayek spoke Levantine Arabic and very little English. Mrs. Alhayek had no sex education in her native homeland, and her understanding of birth was that it was a gift from God that "somehow comes in the mom's stomach and then they come out."

In 2009, Mrs. Alhayek gave birth to her first child through a caesarean section. Between 2013-14, Mrs. Alhayek was in the care of Dr. Miles and Northwest OB-GYN, where they presented her with and convinced her of the option of delivering her second child through a VBAC procedure. Around this time, Mrs. Alhayek still had difficulties communicating in English.

At trial, Mrs. Alhayek presented evidence that her informed consent claim that was based, in part, on her cultural upbringing and her limited English proficiency. For example, at first Mrs. Alhayek did not know that a woman could have natural birth after having a caesarean section; she did not understand that the scar on her uterus from the prior caesarean section could tear (she believed Dr. Miles was simply saying the caesarean section scar on her belly could tear) and cause harm to her or her baby; she did not know she was being given nor did she want Pitocin (even calling it "potassium"), which induces contractions and increases the risk of a uterine rupture; because of her elementary level English reading skills, she could not read the informed consent form that Northwest OB-GYN had her sign; that Dr. Miles and Northwest OB-GYN had never given her an interpreter or provided an informed consent form in her native Levantine Arabic language to help her understand it; and more. Mrs. Alhayek's parents testified through interpreters, and Mrs. Alhayek had an interpreter throughout her testimony standing by to assist if needed (which she needed a couple of times).

During the birthing process, Mrs. Alhayek suffered a uterine rupture and nearly bled to death. While her baby was born healthy, Mrs. Alhayek sustained debilitating, permanent injuries, including adhesions, bladder disfunction, and a hysterectomy as a result of her ruptured uterus.

# 2. Trial.

Mrs. Alhayek was concerned that, with the demographic makeup of Spokane County and the potential for explicit and implicit discriminatory remarks by counsel or witnesses at trial,

5

she could be prejudiced and thus made a motion in limine based upon this Court's decision in *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022). CP 173. The racial demographic makeup of the jury panel and the eventual empaneled jury appeared to be one hundred percent white. CP 1756-57, 1760-63, 1771.

Despite ample warning, Respondents' counsel stood up in his opening statement and made a juxtaposition of Dr. Miles to Mrs. Alhayek, the Palestinian immigrant. When shifting to introduce Dr. Miles, Respondents' counsel told the jury in the span of a few sentences as follows:

"My pleasure to talk with you now a little bit more about my client, Dr. Miles. Dr. Miles is *from this part of the world*. She grew up in Pullman...

... She went to Gonzaga. She grew up here. *This is her town*."

RP 515 (emphasis added).

After objection, the trial court noted on the record that this statement "draws a distinction between someone from this

country or – and someone from another part of the world... [and] statements like that could cause jurors to unintentionally start to – to look to certain types of stereotypes." RP 546-48.

In the next opportunity to speak directly to the jury in closing arguments, Respondents' counsel made remarks of the more coded type at the very beginning of his closing arguments when moving to his recitation of the facts:

"Let's talk a little bit about the facts of the case. Let's talk about you heard testimony about the language capabilities of Ms. Alhayek, and let's talk about who the plaintiffs called to address those issues. They called Ms. Alhayek's mother. Ms. Alhayek's mother had multiple vaginal deliveries. Ms. Alhayek, the plaintiff, wanted a vaginal delivery. They were a *close-knit family*. They called her father. They called sister, Jane; twin sister Jane. They also -- we also learned that -- that Jane took the English class with Ms. Alhayek and is now in pharmacy school. That's her twin. You heard from her brother Issa, who helped Joumana Alhayek with language in that course she took. This was a *close-knit family*. They cared about each other, as most families do...

...But in a trial like this, especially as many days as we've been here, you hear evidence and you hear witnesses. But also what you consider is what you don't hear, who doesn't some here, who doesn't testify.

With the family, the *close knit family*, there's *obviously bias* with how they're describing her language ability; *obvious bias*.

But let's talk about who they didn't call. Where were the friends that see them on a daily basis and socialize with them that would tell you she doesn't understand English, she doesn't read English? Or the *neighbors* that live by them? Where were the *coworkers*? Olive Garden, The Barbers that she worked at, where she testified she didn't need an interpreter anyway. Where were the *customers*? Just worked as recently as 2019. Where are the customers -- where are the customers she told you about that were returning customers that wanted to have her take care of their hair? Where were the teachers at the English class? At the cosmetology school? Where were the *costudents*? Why didn't they testify?

RP 2653-55 (emphasis added).

Respondents' counsel identified the Palestinian family members as "close-knit" three times, called them obviously biased two times, and then called into question their credibility by juxtaposing them with people in the local community that did not testify, such as neighbors, customers, and *et cetera* (i.e, the "real Americans" or the "white people" under the lens of an objective observer). RP 2653-55.

After the trial and the filing of Mrs. Alhayek's Motion for a New Trial and Evidentiary Hearing, the Honorable John Cooney<sup>1</sup> stated that Respondents' counsel's opening statement comments of Dr. Miles "being 'from this part of the world' and stating that 'this is her town' could lead an objective observer to conclude that race may have played a factor in the jury's verdict." CP 1872. The trial court further concluded that the "statements were unnecessary and improper." *Id.* The trial court did not find the closing arguments problematic in subjective judgment. CP 1868-74. Ultimately, the trial court denied Mrs. Alhayek both an evidentiary hearing and a new trial. *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Honorable John Cooney presided over the trial and has been subsequently appointed to the Court of Appeals – Division III, but was not on the panel and did not take part in the decision of this appeal.

Like the trial court, Division III recognized that Respondents' counsel's opening statement was an improper "usversus-them" argument with "an apparent purpose of the remarks was to cause jurors to identify more closely with Dr. Miles than Al Hayek, who is not from this part of the world of Spokane." Alhayek, 562 P.3d at 1277. However, Division III then focused on and claimed that Mrs. Alhayek produced evidence at trial "consistent with the remarks" and that the "remarks supported one of her central arguments" because she claimed she did not understand the consent form and because she was from a different country with a different language and culture. Id. Division III affirmed the trial court's decision, stating: "[w]e agree with the trial court's determination in its letter decision, that, but for the evidence produced by Al Hayek, an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the jury's verdict." Id.

With respect to Respondents counsel's closing argument, Division III essentially determined that there was an alternative

10

explanation – that it was "an argument made every day in court," and that Respondents' counsel also said that Mrs. Alhayek's family "cared about each other, as most families do" within the remarks. *Id.* Division III performed no stated analysis of what the objective observer could view from the closing argument. *Id.* 

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court may accept a petition for review of a Court of Appeals decision if the decision conflicts with other decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). This Court may also accept review if the petition involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. RAP 13.4(b)(3). And finally, this Court may also accept review if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court should accept review for all of these reasons.

# 1. Division III's Decision Contradicts Longstanding Principles Established by the Supreme Court and Presents Conflict Amongst the Appellate Courts.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), Division III's opinion is in conflict with this Court's decisions concerning GR 37's standards and application, and is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Division III's opinion made new law when it established a legal standard for the meaning of "could" under the GR 37 inquiry of "whether an objective observer... could view race or [ethnicity] as a factor in the verdict," determining that "could" means a "reasonable possibility." *Alhayek*, 562 P.3d at 1276-77. This new standard is in conflict with not only this Court's decisions, but also that of Division I.

This Court has determined that under GR 37 "a court must grant an evidentiary hearing upon a prima facie showing of evidence that, if 'taken as true, permits an inference that an objective observer who is aware of the influence of implicit bias *could* view race as a factor in the jury's verdict." *Henderson v. Thompson*, **200** Wn.2d 417, 434, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022) (quoting *State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 666, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019)) (emphasis added). "This standard *speaks to possibility*, not certainty, and to impact, rather than intent." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Division III's ruling places limits on this Court's decision in *Henderson* by replacing the objective observer "could" standard of broad "possibility" with a more restrictive standard of a "reasonable possibility." Not only is there an issue of the supremacy doctrine, but, fundamentally, Division III's opinion cannot be allowed to stand for at least two reasons. First, it injects subjective determinations of "reasonableness" into the "objective" observer standard. Second, it will serve only to restrict access to justice and increase racism and prejudice within our justice system, which is contrary to this Court's stated goals. *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 421 ("This court has stated, unequivocally, that we owe a duty to increase access to justice,

13

reduce and eradicate racism and prejudice, and continue to develop our legal system that serves the ends of justice.").

Division III's published opinion is also in conflict with the published opinion of Division I in the matter of *Simbulan v. Nw. Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 32 Wn. App. 2d 164, 555 P.3d 455 (2024). The *Simbulan* court held that "could" under the objective observer standard means "made possible or probable by circumstances." *Id.* at 176. Division III explicitly rejected the *Simbulan* court's standard and decided its own interpretation that "could" means a "reasonable possibility." *Alhayek*, 562 P.3d at 1276-77. This Court should return the lower courts back to the stated "possibility" standard in *Henderson* in order to resolve the lower courts' restrictions and ongoing conflict.

Division III's ruling is also in conflict with this Court's decision in *Henderson*, and by extension all cases that *Henderson* relies upon, when it created a permissible or excused exception to racial or ethnic discrimination in Washington courtrooms. Division III recognized that Respondents' counsel's opening

statement was an improper "us-versus-them" argument with an "apparent purpose of the remarks was to cause jurors to identify more closely with Dr. Miles than Al Hayek." Alhayek, 562 P.3d at 1277. Despite this, Division III held that because Mrs. Alhayek produced evidence of her limited language proficiency and her cultural background to demonstrate how and why Respondents failed to secure her informed consent, it thereby rendered Respondents' counsel's opening statement remarks as permissible or excused. Id. ("...but for the evidence produced by Al Hayek, an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the jury's verdict.").

Division III's new "but for" causation test for determining whether racism or ethnic discrimination occurred again limits and places restrictions on this Court's ruling in *Henderson*. Not only that, it is in direct conflict with *Henderson*, which outright rejected crafting permitted excuses or exceptions to discrimination in courtrooms. 200 Wn.2d at 438-39 (rejecting trial court's viewing of the facts from her own perspective on the

15

basis that the "language should be excused because the term was 'race neutral' and tied to the evidence...a race-neutral alternative explanation does not excuse the effect of language that appeals to racial bias."); see also *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 666. Division III's claim that Respondents' counsel's opening statement offending remarks were somehow tied to the evidence or had some alternative effect have been flatly rejected this Court.

Moreover, the trial court and Division III both recognized that the apparent purpose of such "us-versus-them" or "Othering" arguments was to inject bias and cause jurors to identify more closely with Dr. Miles than Mrs. Alhayek, but then failed to recognize that Mrs. Alhayek's introduction of evidence concerning her limited language proficiency and cultural background were not the ultimate issue for a *Henderson* violation. The violation of *Henderson* was that the statement that Dr. Miles was "from this part of the world," saying that "she grew up" here twice, and claiming that "[Spokane] is her town" – all in a very short span – had *nothing* to do with Mrs. Alhayek's case or evidence, but rather was only be offered for the improper purpose of "us-versus-them'ing" or "Othering" Mrs. Alhayek from the jury in favor of Dr. Miles.

Even Division III has previously recognized, though not published and in concurrence and dissent, that this type of differentiation is improper:

The prosecuting attorney's labeling of Damai Vaile as a dangerous Black man differentiated Vaile from the Spokane white community and likely from members of the jury. Since Cicero, rhetoric has employed the technique of "othering" others as someone outside the moral community in order to induce a negative emotional response to a category of other people. Ryan Patrick Alford, *Appellate* Review of Racist Summations: Redeeming the Promise of Searching Analysis, 11 MICH. J. RACE & L. 325, 335 (2006). Demeaning references to racial groups invite jurors to view a defendant as coming from a different community than themselves. State v. Watkins, 526 N.W.2d 638, 641 (Minn. Ct. App.1995).

State v. Vaile, No. 37943-4-III, 2023 Wn. App. LEXIS 921 (May 11, 2023) (Fearing, C.J., concurring in part/dissenting in part).

Division III's ruling also conflicts with *Henderson* with respect to Respondents' counsel's closing arguments. At the beginning of his closing argument, Respondents' counsel identified the Palestinian family members as a "close-knit" family three times, called them obviously biased two times, and then called into question their credibility by juxtaposing them with people in the local community that did not testify, such as neighbors, customers, and *et cetera* (i.e, the "real Americans" or the "white people" under the lens of an objective observer).

In *Henderson*, the attorney "described the testimony of Henderson's friends and family as 'inherently biased." 200 Wn.2d at 425. Attacking credibility, the attorney further stated: "I thought it was interesting also that all [three] of those witnesses used the exact same phrase when describing Ms. Henderson before the accident: life of the party. Almost – almost like someone had told them to say that. *Id.* at 425-26 (emphasis removed). From these actual attorney statements, this Court found that an objective observer could see this as "racist

18

stereotypes about Black people and us-versus-them descriptions to undermine the credibility of Henderson and her witnesses. For example, defense counsel suggested that Henderson had probably asked her friends and family to lie for her, as evidenced by their shared use of a popular idiom – 'life of the party' – to describe her." *Id.* at 437.

Despite the marked similarities between *Henderson* and this case, Division III neither analyzed the facts under *Henderson*'s guidance nor gave any consideration to the objective observer standard. Instead, Division III fell back to subjective interpretations and whether there were potential alternative explanations. *Alhayek*, 562 P.3d at 1277 (claiming that this attacking of bias was "an argument made every day in court"; subjectively interpreting that "the phrase was not used in a pejorative manner"; and finding an alternative explanation where defense counsel "explained" that the "close-knit" family "cared about each other, as most families do"). This is in direct conflict with the law in *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 438. ("A judge should not view the challenged remarks from the judge's own perspective."); *id.* at 438-39 (rejecting trial court's viewing of the facts from her own perspective on the basis that the "language should be excused because the term was 'race neutral' and tied to the evidence...a race-neutral alternative explanation does not excuse the effect of language that appeals to racial bias.").

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