FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/2/2025 9:39 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 103924-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOUMANA B. AL HAYEK, and NICHOLAS C. PHILLIPS, and the marital community composed thereof;

Petitioners,

v.

KATHRYN MILES, M.D., individually, and NORTHWEST OB/GYN, P.S., a Washington Corporation,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ETTER MCMAHON, LAMBERSON, VAN WERT & ORESKOVICH, PC

By: Stephen M. Lamberson WSBA No. 12985 Ronald A. Van Wert WSBA No. 32050

618 W. Riverside Avenue Suite 210 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 747-9100 SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBA No. 14355 Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

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

The trial court denied petitioners' motion for a new trial motion in a letter ruling.³ (CP 1868-73) Applying the objective observer standard, the trial court noted that plaintiffs made Mrs. Al Hayek's Palestinian heritage a cornerstone of their informed consent case and that Mrs. Al Hayek's language abilities "permeated the trial and were presented in the Plaintiffs' case-in-chief." (CP 1871)

The trial court found defense counsel appropriately argued credibility in a racially neutral manner during closing, rejecting plaintiffs' assertion that referring to Mrs. Al Hayek's family as "close-knit" provoked racial bias because the term "is an accurate reflection of the evidence presented at trial, not a racist trope." (CP 1872)

³ Petitioners have abandoned their other challenges to the defense verdict and grounds for new trial in seeking review in this Court.

Although the trial court characterized defense counsel's chosen words to describe Dr. Miles' background in opening statements as "unnecessary and improper," it concluded that given plaintiffs' repeated focus on Mrs. Al Hayek's Palestinian ethnicity over the course of a lengthy trial, the "statement did not create the possibility that the jury's verdict was improperly influenced by racism. Consequently, the record does not support an inference that discrimination has occurred." (CP 1872-73)

After this Court denied petitioners' request for direct review, the Court of Appeals affirmed the order denying a new trial. Division Three applied the *Henderson* standard adapted from GR 37—that of "<u>an objective observer</u> who is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury verdicts in Washington State <u>could view race as a</u> <u>factor in the verdict.</u>" (Op. 8,4 underline in original, quoting *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 435, ¶32)

Applying de novo review, the court believed defense counsel's statement in opening to reflect an improper "usversus-them" argument, but concluded that because Mrs. Al Hayek's "central argument" was "that she did not understand the consent form because she is from another country, with a different language and culture," an objective observer could not view race or ethnicity as a factor in the jury's verdict based on that isolated comment. (Op. 10) The Court further held that the defense could not have elicited any implicit bias in arguing in closing that only Mrs. Al Hayek's "close knit family" supported her claim of limited English proficiency, as that challenge to credibility was the type of neutral, non-pejorative argument "made very day in court." (Op. 11)

⁴ This Answer cites to the Court of Appeals' slip opinion attached to the Petition for Review.

- D. Argument Why this Court Should Deny Review.
 - 1. Division Three properly applied *Henderson* in determining that an objective observer could not conclude that implicit bias played any factor in the jury's verdict.

The Court of Appeals faithfully applied *Henderson's* standard. No objective observer could find this verdict tainted by implicit bias based on a single non-disparaging statement in opening and a closing argument, devoid of any improper innuendo, that challenged the credibility of the plaintiff's "close-knit" family members, including her Washington-born husband who speaks only English. As *State v. Bagby,* 200 Wn.2d 777, 522 P.3d 982 (2023) instructs, the court properly looked to the totality of the circumstances in holding that "an objective observer, as described in GR 37(f), could not view race or ethnicity as a factor in the jury's verdict." (Op. 11)

Division Three's well-reasoned decision does not create an "exception" to the *Henderson/Bagby*/GR 37 objective standard. (Pet. 14-15) Nor did the court apply a "but for" test for determining the possibility of implicit bias on the basis of ethnicity. (Pet. 15) Petitioners' contention that the lower court viewed Mrs. Al Hayek's allegations "from [its] own perspective" (Pet. 15) is refuted by the plain language of its decision. The decision below does not conflict with *Henderson* nor with any of the Court's other GR 37 cases. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and is consistent with Division One's decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

a. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with *Henderson* and *Bagby*.

Petitioners gloss over the facts of *Henderson*, where this Court found "numerous instances that permit an inference that an objective observer could conclude race was a factor in the verdict," through coded appeals to racial bias. 200 Wn.2d at 436, ¶34. There, defense counsel

characterized [the "repeatedly Black plaintiff] as 'combative' and 'confrontational' . . . evok[ing] the harmful stereotype of an angry Black woman," 200 Wn.2d at 436, ¶34, and "alluded to racist stereotypes" that Black women were "untrustworthy and motivated by the desire to acquire an unearned financial windfall." 200 Wn.2d at 437, decision The Henderson identified ¶36. several components of defense counsel's conduct that appealed to racial bias:

First, the jury in *Henderson* was subjected to harmful negative stereotypes about Black women. 200 Wn.2d at 436, ¶34. Here, in contrast, Dr. Miles characterized Mrs. Al Hayek as a "great patient" (RP 2188-89) and alluded to no ethnic stereotypes.

Further, any statements concerning Mrs. Al Hayek's proficiency in English were not premised on "themes and arguments advanced by defense counsel," as in *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 439, ¶41. The defense instead responded to

19

Mrs. Al Hayek's central argument—"that she did not understand the consent form because she is from another country, with a different language and culture" (Op. 10) with ethnically-neutral evidence demonstrating that she did understand English and gave her informed consent.

Counsel's implied characterization of the plaintiff as "untrustworthy, lazy, deceptive, and greedy" in *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 437, ¶36, contrasts sharply with the defense in this case, which respected Mrs. Al Hayek's agency (RP 2656: "Ms. Al Hayek was thriving in the Spokane community." *See also* RP 2673), acknowledged her pain, and focused instead on liability. (RP 2694: I don't doubt that Ms. Al Hayek is experiencing these symptoms[but t]hat doesn't mean that you have to find Dr. Miles did something wrong.")

Finally, defense counsel merely pointed out the bias of plaintiffs' witnesses in arguing that, despite Mrs. Al Hayek's extensive contacts and participation in the

20

community, no non-family member testified to her lack of English skills—a critical point, directed solely to credibility, that was well within the defense's right to make in this case that depended upon the jury's determination whether Mrs. Al Hayek understood English well enough to provide informed consent.⁵ (RP 2653-55) *See Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 447-48, ¶59 (Gordon-McCloud, J., concurring) ("parties must be able to explore witnesses' financial and other interests that might undermine their credibility.").

Petitioners' insistence that defense counsel's single reference to Dr. Miles being "from this part of the world" in

⁵ Instruction No. 1 told the jury, without objection:

You are the sole judges of the credibility of the witness . . . In assessing credibility, you must avoid bias, conscious or unconscious, including bias based on religion, ethnicity, race, sexual orientation, gender or disability . . . [Y]ou may consider . . . any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome or the issues

⁽CP 1663-64)

opening fatally infected the jury's verdict also fails to take into account the totality of the circumstances of trial, as this Court directed the courts to consider in both *Henderson* and in *Bagby*—a decision petitioners entirely ignore. In *Bagby*, this Court held that a reviewing court, as an objective observer, must consider "the content and subject of the statements, the frequency of the remarks, the apparent purpose of the statements, and whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record." 200 Wn.2d at 793, ¶38.

The pejorative "othering" of the defendant in *Bagby* is far from what occurred here. Though Bagby was a U.S. citizen born in California, the prosecutor asked nearly every witness about Bagby's "nationality," 200 Wn.2d at 784, ¶17 & n.4, and 795, ¶¶41-42, conflated nationality and race, 200 Wn.2d at 795-96, ¶¶42-43, asked witnesses to identify Bagby and others by their race over a dozen times, 200 Wn.2d at 796, ¶43, and characterized several white

22

bystanders as "Good Samaritans" while conspicuously excluding from this group the sole Black witness who had actively tried to deescalate the situation that led to Bagby's prosecution. 200 Wn.2d at 797-98, ¶46 (alterations omitted). The "sheer volume" of these comments, "repeated throughout the course of the trial," reinforced negative stereotypes about Black men, making "it impossible for jurors to ignore the color of Bagby's skin." *Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 801-02, ¶52.

Petitioners fail to address any of the factors identified by this Court that mandated an evidentiary hearing in both *Henderson* and *Bagby*. The defense here made a single statement that Dr. Miles is from "this part of the world"—a statement that was not directed to and that in no way disparaged plaintiffs, and that the trial court immediately handled with a caution that defense counsel scrupulously adhered to throughout the trial. The defense did not introduce any fact about Mrs. Al Hayek's ethnicity that the plaintiffs themselves had not already emphasized and relied upon before the jury. (Op. 10) Simply put, neither "the content and subject of the statements, the frequency of the remarks, the apparent purpose of the statements, and [their relation to] . . . the evidence or reasonable inferences in the record" support a prima facie finding of implicit bias from the standpoint of an objective observer, aware of this state's history of institutional racism and unconscious bias. *Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 793, ¶38.

Petitioners would have a *Henderson* hearing mandated whenever a losing party's ethnicity or race is brought to the jury's attention, no matter the context nor circumstances. Litigants can, and should, embrace their ethnicity and culture, just as Mrs. Al Hayek did here. By the same token, litigants should be able to reference objective and material facts in a neutral and non-disparaging manner in addressing claims and defenses. That is what occurred in this case. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with this Court's precedent because there was no objective basis for inferring that ethnic bias against Palestinians could have infected the jury's verdict in this case. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

b. The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with Division One's decisions.

Division Three's definition of "could" as meaning that there is a "reasonable possibility" (Op. 9) that implicit bias tainted the verdict does not conflict with Division One's definition of "could" as "made possible or probable by circumstances" in *Simbulan v. NW Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*, 32 Wn. App. 2d 164, 176, ¶20, 555 P.3d 455 (2024). Review also is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

As in this case, the plaintiffs repeatedly referred to their ethnicity ("a large, loving culturally-thoughtful Filipino family") in presenting their case of medical negligence to the jury in *Simbulan*, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 186, ¶35. Engaging in de novo review, Division One held that the Simbulans did not present a prima facie case for a new trial based on implicit bias under *Henderson's* objective standard because "NW Hospital's counsel employed limited questions and arguments based on relevant facts that the Simbulans put at issue in this case." 32 Wn. App. 2d at 186, ¶35. In deciding "whether an objective observer ... could view race [or ethnicity] as a factor in the verdict" under *Henderson*, Division One held that "could" means "made possible or probable by circumstances." *Simbulan*, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 176, ¶20 (quoting *Webster's Third New International Dictionary* 323 (2002)).

Division One correctly recognized that "could' as used in the *Henderson* test cannot mean always." *Simbulan*, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 177, ¶21, Similarly recognizing that "*anything* is 'possible," Division Three in this case clarified that "could' means a 'reasonable possibility." (Op. 9, emphasis in original) Recognizing that the standard for ordering an evidentiary hearing includes a "reasonableness" requirement conforms the definition of "could" as "made possible by circumstances," and makes clear the objective standard for determining whether bias could have tainted a verdict that *Henderson* requires.⁶

Division Three's decision is entirely consistent with Division One's acknowledgement that "the rule in *Henderson* plainly cannot mean that any time race or ethnicity is addressed in a jury trial, explicitly or otherwise, that the party challenging the verdict is automatically entitled to an evidentiary hearing on the question of whether racial biases impacted the outcome of the trial." *Simbulan*, 32 Wn. App. 2d at 176-77, ¶21; *accord*, *State v*.

⁶ The Court applies an objective standard of reasonableness in other contexts. *See, e.g., In re Gomez,* 180 Wn.2d 337, 348, ¶20, 325 P.3d 142 (2014) (ineffective assistance of counsel); *State v. Barber,* 118 Wn.2d 335, 349, 823 P.2d 1068 (1992) (search and seizure); *Smith v. Shannon,* 100 Wn.2d 26, 33, 666 P.2d 351 (1983) (informed consent).

Bellerouche, ___ Wn. App. 2d___, __P.3d ___, 2025 WL 830775, ¶54, n.6 (Mar. 17, 2025) (acknowledging that the "reasonable possibility" standard clarifies that "could does not mean always.").

There is no conflict between a definition of "could" as a "reasonable possibility" and "could" as "made possible or probable." Any circumstances that are "probable" are necessarily "reasonably possible." If there were a difference, Division Three's "reasonable possibility" standard is more generous than the "possible or probable" test enunciated by Division One, and petitioners can claim no prejudice from its application here.

> c. The denial of an evidentiary hearing in this case raises neither a constitutional issue nor one of substantial public interest.

There is no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). Far from denying the parties' right to an unbiased jury, petitioners' insistence on an evidentiary hearing in a case where an objective observer could find no reasonable possibility of implicit bias in a verdict would undermine the jury's role to resolve factual disputes and subject an otherwise final decision to a collateral evidentiary hearing. And there is no basis to review Division Three's assumption that *Henderson* applies equally to ethnic, as well as racial minorities—an assumption both that Dr. Miles has never contested and that arises from the plain language of GR 37(a), whose purpose "is to eliminate the unfair exclusion of potential jurors based on race or ethnicity." Petitioners fail to identify any issue of substantial public interest concerning ethnic bias that this Court did not address in its discussion of racial bias in *Henderson* or in *Bagby*.

In redressing calls to implicit bias, this Court in *Henderson* recognized that we live in a multi-ethnic and multi-racial country, with litigants of varied backgrounds, who can and should embrace their ethnicity and culture, as Mrs. Al Hayek did here. *See State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 715, ¶26, 512 P.3d 512 (2022) ("Race or ethnicity may be relevant or even necessary to discuss within the context of trial . . . "). By the same token, an opposing party can, in a neutral and non-disparaging manner, reference objective relevant facts, just as respondent did here. *Matter of Sandoval*, 189 Wn.2d 811, 834, ¶44, 408 P.3d 675 (2018) (mention of race only improper if "in an effort to appeal to a juror's potential racial bias, i.e., to support assertions based on stereotypes rather than evidence.").

This Court's noble determination to redress implicit bias in our State's trial courts was not an invitation to every unsuccessful litigant to attack as an inevitable product of this country's history of institutional bias and racism a jury's verdict that was based on the evidence presented at trial. The trial court did not err in refusing to grant a new trial or order a *Henderson* hearing in this case.

30

E. Conclusion.

The Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' thoughtful and well-reasoned decision.

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font

and contains 4,718 words, in compliance with the Rules of

Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).